## RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Nov 28, 2016, 4:59 pm

## RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

COURT OF APPEALS NO. 32454-1-III

## STATE OF WASHINGTON

**PETITIONER** 

V.

LISA M. MUMM

**RESPONDENT** 

## PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KARL F. SLOAN
Prosecuting Attorney
237 4th Avenue N.
P.O. Box 1130
Okanogan County, Washington

509-422-7280 Phone 509-422-7290 Fax

## **

### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The Petitioner is the State of Washington, represented by Karl F. Sloan, Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney, and asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition

### B. DECISION

The Petitioner seeks review of the decision by the Court of Appeals in Case No. 32454-1-III, entered July 28, 2016 to vacate three school zone enhancements; and seeks review of the Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration, entered October 25, 2016. A copy of the Decision is attached as Appendix A, pages 1-29; and a copy of the Order is attached as Appendix B, page 1.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals err when it found there was insufficient evidence to prove that the defendant committed deliveries of controlled substances within 1000 feet of a school bus stop?
- 2. Did the court of appeals err when it found a definitional instruction created a new element needed to prove the school bus stop violation?

## D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by information with three counts of delivery of a controlled substance,

methamphetamine, on or about December 7, 2012, January 4, 2013, and February 1, 2013; and one count of possession of a controlled substance, methamphetamine on February 21, 2013. *CP 110-115*. The information also alleged the deliveries were committed within 1000 feet of a school bus stop. *Id*.

Agent Thomas of the North Central Washington
Narcotics Task Force testified that he measured the
distances between designated Omak School District bus
stops and the three transactions. RP 270-273. Dan Wood,
the supervisor in charge of Omak School District
transportation, testified that the school bus stops near the
transactions were active school bus stops and were on the
school's designated bus routes. RP 284-287

The court gave the definitional jury instruction that defined the term "School Bus" pursuant to WPIC 50.63. *CP* 83.

After the presentation of evidence and closing argument, the defendant was convicted of three counts of delivery of a controlled substance, and not guilty of possession of a controlled substance. *CP 22*. The jury also answered the special interrogatory in the affirmative that the

deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop designated by a school district. *CP 23-24.* 

On appeal, the Court of Appeals found the definitional instruction created an additional element. The Court of Appeals then found that based on the State's failure to prove the new element that there was insufficient evidence to prove the enhancements. The Court of Appeals then vacated the three enhancements.

### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Review should be granted in the present case. RAP 13.4 (b) states: A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with existing case law, is a significant question of law, and involves a substantial issue of public interest.

The defendant was found to have committed each delivery within 1000 feet of a school bus route stop designated by a school district, in violation of Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 69.50.435(1)(c) (West).<sup>1</sup> The enhancement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 69.50.435 states in part: Violations committed in or on certain public places or facilities-Additional penalty-Defenses-Construction-Definitions.

<sup>(1)</sup> Any person who violates RCW 69.50.401 by manufacturing, selling, delivering, or possessing with the intent to manufacture, sell, or deliver a controlled substance listed under RCW 69.50.401 or who violates RCW 69.50.410 by selling for profit any controlled substance or counterfeit substance classified in schedule I, RCW 69.50.204, except leaves and flowering tops of marihuana to a person:

<sup>(</sup>a) In a school;

<sup>(</sup>b) On a school bus:

<sup>(</sup>c) Within one thousand feet of a school bus route stop designated by the school district;

<sup>(</sup>d) Within one thousand feet of the perimeter of the school grounds;

<sup>(</sup>e) In a public park;

<sup>(</sup>f) In a public housing project designated by a local governing authority as a drug-free zone;

<sup>(</sup>g) On a public transit vehicle;

<sup>(</sup>h) In a public transit stop shelter;

<sup>(</sup>i) At a civic center designated as a drug-free zone by the local governing authority: or

<sup>(</sup>j) Within one thousand feet of the perimeter of a facility designated under (i) of this subsection, if the local governing authority specifically designates the one thousand foot perimeter may be punished by a fine of up to twice the fine otherwise authorized by this chapter, but not including twice the fine authorized by RCW 69.50.406, or by imprisonment of up to twice the imprisonment otherwise authorized by this chapter, but not including twice the imprisonment authorized by RCW 69.50.406, or by both such fine and imprisonment. The provisions of this section shall not operate to more than double the fine or imprisonment otherwise authorized by this chapter for an offense.

was not based on a violation occurring on a school bus (i.e., not section (1)(b)). The State proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the distance of each transaction was within 1000 feet of a school district designated school bus route stop.

In the present case, the State was not required to prove the seating capacity of a school bus in order to prove the deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of a school's designated school bus route *stop*.

The Court of Appeals reliance on *State v. Calvin*, 176 Wn. App. 1, 21,316 P.3d 496 (2013), review granted in part,

<sup>(2)</sup> It is not a defense to a prosecution for a violation of this section that the person was unaware that the prohibited conduct took place while in a school or school bus or within one thousand feet of the school or school bus route stop, in a public park, in a public housing project designated by a local governing authority as a drug-free zone, on a public transit vehicle, in a public transit stop shelter, at a civic center designated as a drug-free zone by the local governing authority, or within one thousand feet of the perimeter of a facility designated under subsection (1)(i) of this section, if the local governing authority specifically designates the one thousand foot perimeter...

<sup>(6)</sup> As used in this section the following terms have the meanings indicated unless the context clearly requires otherwise:

<sup>(</sup>a) "School" has the meaning under RCW 28A.150.010 or 28A.150.020. The term "school" also includes a private school approved under RCW 28A.195.010; (b) "School bus" means a school bus as defined by the superintendent of public instruction by rule which is owned and operated by any school district and all school buses which are privately owned and operated under contract or otherwise with any school district in the state for the transportation of students. The term does not include buses operated by common carriers in the urban transportation of students such as transportation of students through a municipal transportation system; (c) "School bus route stop" means a school bus stop as designated by a school district; (emphasis added)...

183 Wn.2d 1013, 353 P.3d 640 (2015), to extend the law of the case doctrine to a definitional instruction is misplaced.

The Appellate Court's holding based on *Calvin*, presumes that the definitional instruction created a new essential element. This is incorrect.

State v. Calvin, 176 Wn.App. 1, 21, 316 P.3d 496 (2013), stated: "Although the State argues that the law of the case doctrine applies only when an element is added to a toconvict instruction, the doctrine is not limited to that application. It is a broad doctrine that has been applied to to-convict instructions and definitional instructions."

The unique circumstances in *Calvin* rendered that case inapplicable to the present case. In *Calvin*, the defendant was charged with assault in the third degree and resisting arrest. The trial court initially provided an instruction defining assault using the phrase "unlawful force":

"An assault is an act, with unlawful force, done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury...."

Calvin, 176 Wn.App. at 20. The jury was confused about the term and asked the trial court how to define "unlawful force".

Calvin, 176 Wn.App. at 20. The trial court decided to provide a supplemental instruction without the phrase:

"An assault is an act done with the intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury...."

Calvin, 176 Wn.App. at 20. The defendant in Calvin argued that, under the law of the case doctrine, the original instruction containing the phrase "unlawful force" added an element the State was required to prove. Calvin, 176 Wn.App. at 21.

Although the *Calvin* court stated in passing that the law of the case doctrine *might* apply to *definitional* instructions in addition to "to convict" instructions, this statement was dicta because whether the presence of the phrase "unlawful force" added an element was not directly at issue in the case:

The [law of the case] doctrine is based on the premise that whether the instruction in question was rightfully or wrongfully given, it was binding and conclusive upon the jury. Thus, a party cannot challenge unobjected to jury instructions for the first time on appeal, or conversely disavow jury instructions on appeal that were acquiesced to below. Here, an objection preserved the issue for review and the jury reached a verdict based on the supplemental instruction [rather than the original instruction containing the phrase "unlawful force"]. Because the trial court has discretion to give supplemental instructions, the issue is not whether the law of the case doctrine bound the State to the "unlawful force" language at the time the jury was given instructions. Rather, our inquiry is whether the trial court abused its discretion when the jury sought further clarification and the trial court identified and corrected a problem. (Emphasis added).

Calvin, 176 Wn.App. at 22 (citation omitted). Calvin did not hold that a phrase contained in a definitional instruction

increased the State's burden by creating an otherwise unnecessary element.

Here, the State was not required to prove the definition of school bus beyond a reasonable doubt; the State needed only to prove that the deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of a designated school bus route stop. The status of any particular bus is irrelevant to the school's designation of a stop. Arguably, findings about the seating capacity of a bus (or buses), whether or not buses actually stopped, or whether children were actually picked up or dropped off; would not be necessary to prove that the delivery occurred within the prohibited area, as long as the school district designated the location as a stop.

Because the State was not required to prove the seating capacity of a school bus, there is no basis to consider whether sufficient evidence supported the unnecessary definition. See City of Spokane v. White, 102 Wn. App. 955, 964–65, 10 P.3d 1095, 1100 (2000) (defendant argued insufficient evidence exists to support the second definition of assault regarding reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury, but the court held the definition of assault was not an element of the crime); State v. Hickman, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101–03, 954 P.2d

900, 902 (1998) (State assumes the burden of proving otherwise unnecessary elements of the offense *when such added elements are included* without objection *in the "to convict" instruction* (emphasis added)).

Washington courts, including *State v. Calvin*, have never required the words defining an element be included in the "to convict" instruction in place of the actual element itself. *See State v. Laico*, 97 Wash. App. 759, 764, 987 P.2d 638 (1999) (definition of "great bodily harm" does not add an element to the assault statute, rather it is intended to provide understanding); *State v. Strohm*, 75 Wash. App. 301, 308-09, 879 P.2d 962 (1994) (definitional term does not add elements to the criminal statute). *See also State v. Marko*, 107 Wash. App. 215, 219-20, 27 P.3d 228 (2001) (definition of threat does not create additional elements rather it merely defines an element); *State v. Saunders*, 180 Wash. 2d 1015, 327 P.3d 55 (2014) ("sexual gratification" was not an essential element of first-degree child molestation).

In the present case, the definitional instruction was not an element, nor was it even necessary for the jury to find the offenses occurred within 1000 feet of a designated school bus route stop. Dan Wood, the supervisor in charge of transportation for Omak School District, testified to the

location of the designated school bus stops. RP (3/14/14), pg. 283-294. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find the enhancements. The enhancement applied to the locations *designated* by the school district as school bus route stops.

The finding of the enhancement was properly based on the school district's designation of a school bus route stop and the distance to the crime. It was not reliant upon any finding about any actual bus or buses that may serve the designated stops.

Even if the definition of school bus could somehow be construed as an element, there was sufficient evidence to support that finding. The test for determining the sufficiency of the evidence is whether after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *E.g.*, *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wash. 2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992). When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the defendant. *Salinas*, 119 Wash. 2d at 201. A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's

evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn there from. *Salinas*, 119 Wash. 2d at 201.

Mr. Wood also testified that those stops were utilized by the district's school buses at or around the dates of the deliveries. RP (3/14/14), pg. 283-294. As the school district's transportation supervisor, Mr. Wood's description of school buses provided sufficient direct and circumstantial evidence that the school buses used by the school district were school buses as defined by the WPIC. The jury could find that Mr. Wood knew what a "school bus" was when he testified about them and was not referring to a vehicle that was not a school bus. Accordingly, there was no reference by Mr. Wood to, or description of, vans, cars, or any other type of vehicle being used that could have been inferred to seat ten persons or less.<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Despite the particular definition used in the WPIC, there absolutely no indication that a school bus (or even a micro school bus) with a seating capacity of 10 or fewer persons, *including* the driver (i.e. 9 passengers plus the driver), even exists. See websites of Type A school bus manufacturers visited 9/9/2016: <a href="https://www.blue-bird.com/blue-bird/Bus-Finder/Micro-Bird-TSeries-16.aspx">https://www.blue-bird.com/blue-bird/Bus-Finder/Micro-Bird-TSeries-16.aspx</a>;

http://www.collinsbuscorp.com/products.php?id=1;

http://www.thomasbus.com/bus-models/school/minotour.asp;

http://www.microbird.com/MICROBIRD/INTRO.html;

http://www.starcraftbus.com/BusPage.aspx?product=school;

http://www.transtechbus.com/products/cst-child-safe-transporter.aspx;

http://www.vanconbus.com/models.html.

### F. CONCLUSION

Review of the Court of Appeals decision should be granted. The decision striking the school bus route stop enhancements should be reversed. The definition of school bus did not create a new element and the seating capacity of any particular bus was irrelevant to the school district's designation of a location as a school bus route stop, and to the jury's ability to find the deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of the designated stop. Even if a definition instruction could be found to have created an element, there was sufficient evidence for the finding of the jury based on the testimony of the school's supervisor of transportation.