# RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON CLERK'S OFFICE

Dec 22, 2016, 12:56 pm

# RECEIVED ELECTRONICALLY

Supreme Court No. 93866-1 Court of Appeals No. 32454-1-III

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Petitioner,

VS.

LISA MARIE MUMM,

Defendant/Respondent.

### ANSWER TO STATE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID N. GASCH
WSBA No. 18270
P. O. Box 30339
Spokane, WA 99223-3005
(509) 443-9149
Attorney for Defendant/Respondent

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT.

Respondent/appellant/defendant asks this Court to deny review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION.

Petitioner seeks review of that portion of the Court of Appeals

Opinion filed July 28, 2016, vacating three school zone enhancements.

#### III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

Was the evidence insufficient for any rational trier of fact to find an essential element of the special verdict regarding the school bus route stop enhancement, where there was no proof of the seating capacity of the school buses?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

Lisa Mumm was convicted by a jury of three counts of delivery of a controlled substance. CP 22. The jury was asked to find by special verdict that all three deliveries occurred within 1000 feet of a "school bus route stop." CP 23-24. The jury was instructed in pertinent part regarding the special verdict that a "school bus" is defined as follows:

"School bus" means a vehicle that meets the following requirements: One, has a seating capacity of more than ten persons including the driver; Two, is regularly used to transfer students to and from a school or in connection with school activities; and Three, is owned and operated by any school district or privately owned and operated under

contract or otherwise with any school district for the transportation of students.

Instruction No. 19; RP 560.

The prosecution presented this "school bus" definition to the trial court and did not object to its content. RP 541. The jury answered "yes" to all three special verdicts. CP 23-24.

The Court of Appeals held since the State included a definitional instruction of a school bus, under the law of the case doctrine it was required to prove it and failed to do so. Slip Op. pp 22-23

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED.

The considerations which govern the decision to grant review are set forth in RAP 13.4(b). Respondent believes that this court should deny review of this issue because the decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with other decisions of this court and the Court of Appeals (RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2)), is not a significant constitutional question of law (RAP 13.4(b)(3)), and does not involve an issue of substantial public interest (RAP 13.4(b)(4)).

The evidence was insufficient for any rational trier of fact to find an essential element of the special verdict regarding the school bus route stop enhancement, where there was no proof of the seating capacity of the school buses.

The State argues in its petition for review (PFR) that since the enhancement was not based on a violation occurring on a school bus, the State was not required to prove the seating capacity of a school bus to prove the deliveries took place within 1000 feet of a school bus stop. State's PFR pp 4-9. While this statement is true on its face, it ignores the central issue. Since the State *did* include a definitional instruction of a school bus, under the law of the case doctrine it was required to prove it and failed to do so. *State v. Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d 97, 101–02, 954 P.2d 900 (1998); *State v. Calvin*, 176 Wn. App. 1, 316 P.3d 496, 506 (2013).

Citing *Hickman* and *Calvin*, the State further argues it had no burden to prove the definitional instruction because it was not an added element and was not included in the "to convict" instruction. State's PFR pp 4-9. This assertion is incorrect and misconstrues the holdings in *Hickman* and *Calvin*.

It is true in criminal cases, the State assumes the burden of proving otherwise unnecessary elements of the offense when such added elements

are included without objection in the "to convict" instruction. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 102. However, the law of the case doctrine is not limited to that application:

Although the State argues that the law of the case doctrine applies only when an element is added to a to-convict instruction, the doctrine is not limited to that application. It is a broad doctrine that has been applied to to-convict instructions and definitional instructions. See, e.g., *City of Spokane v. White*, 102 Wash.App. 955, 964–65, 10 P.3d 1095 (2000); *State v. Price*, 33 Wash.App. 472, 474–75, 655 P.2d 1191 (1982); *Englehart v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, 11 Wash.App. 922, 923, 527 P.2d 685 (1974) . . . The doctrine is based on the premise that whether the instruction in question was rightfully or wrongfully given, it was binding and conclusive upon the jury. *Hickman*, 135 Wash.2d at 101 n. 2, 954 P.2d 900.

Calvin, 176 Wn. App. 1, 316 P.3d at 506.

The State argues this quote from *Calvin* applying the doctrine to definitional instructions is dicta. State's PFR p 7. This is incorrect and can be easily substantiated by the internal citations in the above quote from *Calvin*. Moreover, the *Hickman* Court used similar language indicating the doctrine has broader application than the State suggests: "Added elements become the law of the case ... when they are included in instructions to the jury." *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 102 (citing *State v. Lee*, 128 Wn.2d 151, 159, 904 P.2d 1143 (1995)). "Although the charging statute ... did not require reference to [the added element], by including that reference in the information and in the instructions, it became the law

of the case and the State had the burden of proving it." *Id.* (*citing State v. Barringer*, 32 Wn. App. 882, 887-88, 650 P.2d 1129 (1982)). Neither of these quotations limits application of the law of the case doctrine to only when an element is added to a to-convict instruction.

The remainder of the State's argument reiterates that the definitional instruction regarding seating capacity of a school bus was unnecessary for the jury to find the enhancement. State's PFR pp 8-11.

Again, this argument circumvents the issue. The State assumed the burden of proving this otherwise unnecessary element by including it without objection in the jury instructions. *Hickman*, 135 Wn.2d at 102. The enhancement was for deliveries occurring within 1000 feet of a "school bus" stop. By defining "school bus," the jury had to find "school buses" meeting that definition stopped at these locations in order for the stop to be a "school bus" stop. The State failed to present sufficient evidence to prove that definition. Therefore, the Court of Appeals properly vacated the enhancements as it has previously done under identical facts. *See State v. Boston*, 176 Wn. App. 1007 (August 22, 2013) (unpublished).

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals filed on or after March 1, 2013, may be cited as non-binding authorities, if identified as such by the citing party, and may be accorded such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1 (Effective September 1, 2016).

## VI. CONCLUSION.

For the reasons stated herein, Defendant/Respondent respectfully asks this Court to deny the petition for review.